
Meeting papers

Planning Committee

Thursday 21 November 2019 at 10.00 am

Council Chamber - Shire Hall, Gloucester





    

Planning Committee

Thursday 21 November 2019 at 10.00 am

Council Chamber - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE Andrea Griffiths

2  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

To receive declarations by members of (a) personal interests (including 
their nature) and (b) prejudicial interests under the Code of Conduct. 
Members who have an interest to declare are asked to complete the 
Declarations of Interests form at the back of the chamber.

Andrea Griffiths

3  PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

To answer any written public questions about matters which are within the 
powers and duties of the Committee.

The closing date/time for the receipt of questions is 10am on Thursday 
14th November 2019.  

Andrea Griffiths

4  MEMBERS' QUESTIONS 

To answer any written members’ questions about matters which are within 
the powers and duties of the Committee.

The closing date/time for the receipt of questions is 10am on 
Thursday 14th November 2019.  

Andrea Griffiths

5  MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING (Pages 1 - 20)

The Committee is asked to approve the minutes of the previous meeting.  

Andrea Griffiths

6  APPLICATION NO: 18/0032/TWMAJW LAND TO THE WEST OF 
WINGMOOR FARM, STOKE ROAD, BISHOPS CLEEVE. (Pages 21 - 
36)

Denis Canney



    

Members are invited to consider whether planning permission should be 
granted subject to the  proposed conditions and without the need for a 
S106 legal agreement and also subject to any call in by the Secretary of 
State under the Town and Country Planning (Consultation) (England) 
Direction 2009 as “Green Belt development”.

7  ENFORCEMENT REPORT (Pages 37 - 40)

The Committee is asked to note the report.  

Andy Birchley

8  DELEGATED DECISIONS TAKEN BETWEEN 12TH SEPTEMBER - 7TH 
NOVEMBER 2019. (Pages 41 - 42)

The Committee is asked to note the report.  

Sarah Pearse

GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS

1. The Chairman’s Briefing will take place at 9.20am on Thursday 21st November 2019 in 
Meeting Room 6.

Membership –  Cllr Phil Awford (Chairman), Cllr Robert Bird, Cllr David Brown, 
Cllr Dr John Cordwell, Cllr Bernard Fisher, Cllr Terry Hale, Cllr Stephen Hirst, Cllr Graham Morgan, 
Cllr Shaun Parsons, Cllr Alan Preest, Cllr Steve Robinson, Cllr Pam Tracey MBE, 
Cllr Robert Vines, Cllr Simon Wheeler and Cllr Will Windsor-Clive

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification about 
whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer (Rob 
Ayliffe 01452 328506/ e-mail: rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to the start of 
the meeting.

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect Minutes or 
Reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact:
Andrea Griffiths, Democratic Services Officer 
:01452 324206/fax: 425850/e-mail: andrea.griffiths@gloucestershire.gov.uk  

Please note that photography, filming and audio recording of Council meetings is permitted subject 
to the Local Government Access to Information provisions.  Please contact Democratic Services (tel 
01452 324202) to make the necessary arrangements ahead of the meeting.  If you are a member of 
the public and do not wish to be photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services 
Officer on duty at the meeting.

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point which is outside the main entrance to 
Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further instructions.

mailto:rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:andrea.griffiths@gloucestershire.gov.uk


- 1 -

PLANNING COMMITTEE
MINUTES of the meeting of the Planning Committee held on Thursday 26 September 
2019 commencing at 10.00 am.

PRESENT
MEMBERSHIP:

Cllr Phil Awford 
(Chairman)
Cllr Robert Bird
Cllr David Brown
Cllr Dr John Cordwell
Cllr Bernard Fisher
Cllr Terry Hale

Cllr Stephen Hirst
Cllr Alan Preest
Cllr Steve Robinson
Cllr Pam Tracey MBE
Cllr Robert Vines
Cllr Simon Wheeler

Apologies: Cllr Graham Morgan and Cllr Shaun  Parsons

8. ELECTION OF CHAIRPERSON 

On calling for nominations for the Chairperson for the ensuing civic year, Councillor 
Awford was proposed and duly seconded.  There being no other nominations, the 
Committee 

Resolved

That Councillor Awford was elected as the Chairperson for the ensuing civic 
year.

9. ELECTION OF VICE CHAIRPERSON 

On calling for nominations for the Vice Chairperson for the ensuing civic year, 
Councillor Cordwell was proposed and duly seconded.  There being no other 
nominations, the Committee

Resolved

That Councillor Cordwell was elected as the Vice Chairperson for the ensuing 
civic year.

10. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No declarations of interest were made.  

11. PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

Page 1

Agenda Item 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

No public questions had been received.  

12. MEMBERS' QUESTIONS 

No Member’s questions had been received.

13. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 

Resolved 

That the Minutes of the meeting held on 9th May 2019 be approved as a 
correct record and signed by the Chairman.  

14. MEMBERS SITE VISIT 

Resolved 

That the site visit notes be received as a correct record.  

15. APPLICATION NO: 19/0026/CHR3MJ LECKHAMPTON CHURCH OF ENGLAND 
PRIMARY SCHOOL, HALL ROAD, CHELTENHAM, GL53 0HP 

A summary of the application was presented by Linda Townsend, Senior Planning 
Officer aided by a power point presentation (A copy of the presentation is attached 
to the signed minute book).  The application was for the erection of a new hall with 
kitchen and staff facilities, the extension of entrance and reception area, the 
creation of new pedestrian access and extended car park, including the provision of 
a Multi Use Games Area and associated works.  

Ms Townsend explained that a planning application had been made under 
Regulation 3 of the Town and Country Planning General Regulations 1992 for the 
County Council to extend a primary school in order to accommodate 1 additional 
form of entry.  This would increase the capacity of the school by 165 places 
bringing the total to 630 from 465 places and add 11.5 FTE members of staff. 

The application was presented at Committee for Members to determine because 
Councillor Iain Dobie made the request which was agreed by the Lead 
Commissioner in consultation with the Chair and Group Spokespersons that a 
committee determination would be in the interests of transparent decision making.  

It was noted that Leckhampton and Warden Hill Parish Council and 20 local 
residents had expressed concerns that the development would lead to an increase 
in traffic, parking problems in the area and increased air pollution outside of the 
school.  The concern was that there was insufficient mitigation in this proposal to 
tackle the problems caused by the ‘school run’.

Members visited the school on Thursday 19th September and the site visit notes 
have been made available at the back of the Council Chamber.

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

Ms Townsend advised Members there was an error on page 12 of the committee 
report.  The western boundary of the GCC’s allotments land shown on the Site Plan 
was incorrectly drawn and was in a different position to the boundary on the 
Location Plan, which was correctly drawn.

Slide 2 displayed an aerial photograph of the 2.05ha application site edged in red, 
located at the edge of Leckhampton.  To the north of the application site were 
allotment gardens and beyond that, the Burrows Playing fields.   Immediately west 
of the school site were allotment gardens, owned by the County Council. To the 
north west of the school was open countryside and sporadic development.

The public rights of way in the area were displayed on slide 3 aerial photograph in 
pink.  A public right of way ran along the western boundary of the allotment gardens 
and joined another running along the northern edge of the allotments towards the 
edge of housing, to the north of the school site.  

Ms Townsend explained the application site was located close to the junction of 
Hall Road and Church Road. The school buildings were located closest to the Hall 
Road frontage and the land to the west was used for playing fields.  The rear 
gardens of housing along the north side of Church Road formed the southern 
boundary of the school. 

The Committee were advised that the primary school only had access from Hall 
Road which was subject to traffic calming measures.  There was emergency vehicle 
access on the southern site boundary which ran between residential properties 
which had frontages on Church Road.  The on-site car parking for 27 cars was only 
available for staff and was located along the northern site boundary, close to Hall 
Road.

Members were advised in order to accommodate the additional 165 pupils, a total 
of 466 sq. m of new floor space (+19.4%) was proposed in this application along 
with internal changes to existing parts of the school buildings.  The proposal did not 
involve the loss of any building or temporary Elliott type classroom.

It was noted that new floor space would take the form of a single storey, flat roofed 
extension facing Hall Road to improve the school entrance lobby and administration 
space.  A new school hall extension would be positioned at the rear of the school -
in addition to the assembly hall this would provide a new school kitchen and dining 
space.  This extension would be single storey with a mono-pitched roof which would 
rise from 4 metres to 7 metres at the highest point. 

Members noted the proposed Multi-Use Games Area (MUGA) would be located to 
the west of the proposed school hall.  It would be hard surfaced in porous tarmac 
and enclosed by 3.5 m fencing.  No lighting was proposed for the games area.  
 
In addition, the parking area would be extended along the northern site boundary 
adding 22 parking spaces for staff use creating a total of 49 spaces (42 staff, 5 
visitors and 2 disabled).  New vehicular access was proposed, close to the northern 

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

site boundary from Hall Road. The existing vehicular access would be retained as a 
pedestrian only access and a new pedestrian access would be created from Church 
Road by using the existing emergency vehicle access. 

Ms Townsend informed the Committee that overall the development would require 
7 trees to be removed but this would be compensated by the planting of 12 trees, 
10 of which would be along the northern site boundary. The change to the access 
arrangements involved the loss of a tree which would be compensated by planting 
2 new cherry trees on the Hall Road frontage.  The Borough Council Tree Officer 
was satisfied with the proposals.

The photograph at Slide 6 showed the appearance of the Hall Road frontage of the 
school and position of the existing vehicular access to the car park.  The current 
mix of architectural styles and materials of the more recent extensions to the 
Edwardian buildings could be seen.

The drawing at Slide 7 showed how the new admin extension would look when 
viewed from Hall Road.  The timber cladding material would visually tie in with 
timber cladding which would be used on the existing school hall.  The end wall of 
the school hall could be seen on the left-hand side of this elevation.

Members were advised that a new vehicular access was proposed from Hall Road, 
close to the northern school boundary, which would allow access to an enlarged car 
parking area. The existing vehicular access would be retained as a pedestrian only 
access. The same entrance would be used to exit the car park, in addition an on 
site turning head would allow vehicles to turn around on site.

The additional car parking would be located on land which was underused and 
grassed over, to the north of the hard surfaced play area at the rear of the school. 
The number of car parking spaces available for staff and visitors would be 
increased from 27 to 49. (42 staff, 5 visitors and 2 disabled).

The photo at slide 9 showed the rear of the school, when viewed from the school’s 
playing fields to the west.   The proposed new school hall extension would be 
positioned closest to the northern boundary of the school and would also provide a 
new school kitchen and dining space. The location of the extended car park 
adjacent to this building would allow kitchen deliveries to be made more easily.

A new MUGA would be located to the west of the school hall.  The proposed MUGA 
would be 450sqm of porous tarmac, enclosed by 3.5 metres of mesh fencing.  No 
lighting was proposed.   It was noted that Sport England was satisfied that the 
proposals do not lead to an unacceptable loss of sports pitches.  The existing 
sports pitches would be relocated and the MUGA would provide better quality play 
space for all seasons.  

In addition, a small biodiversity scheme was included in the proposals, as 2 bird 
boxes would be placed on trees, log piles and invertebrate structures would be 
placed within the forest school area.  

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

Ms Townsend referred to slide 11 which showed how the new school hall would 
look from the side and the rear. The hall would be a single storey extension with a 
mono-pitched roof which rises from 4 m to 7 m at the highest point.  It was noted 
that the front of the school building would be clad in timber, so as to blend with the 
materials used at the rear of the school.  

The photograph at slide 13 showed the southern elevation of the school hall.  This 
part of the school was a relatively modern addition and constructed in different 
materials and style to the other parts of the school.  

The hall and adjacent dance studio and music room would be subject to internal 
alterations to create 6 new classrooms. There would be new windows fitted and the 
external wall would be clad in timber. This elevation showed how the school hall 
would look after the changes have been made.  The timber cladding of the end wall 
of the hall would be visible from Hall Road and visually link to the new admin block 
extension on that frontage.  A 3D visualisation shows how the refurbished and 
repurposed hall would appear, looking towards the southern elevation (slide 15).  

Ms Townsend informed the Committee that the Old School Room was the oldest 
part of the school built in 1840.  It was a Heritage Building but unlisted by English 
Heritage.  This building was currently used by the school as a dining room and 
kitchen.  As dining would take place in the new hall on completion, the proposal 
was to refurbish the Old School Room so that it could be used as a multi-purpose 
space for community/staff use in quiet activities such as work/study and yoga 
classes.  

The pre-school classroom adjacent to the dining room would be retained in its 
current use.  To the east of the pre-school classroom was 67 Hall Road, formerly 
the headmaster’s house, which was the closest residential property to the school.  
The occupiers of this property have objected to increased noise and requested that 
before and after-school activities are located away from their property. The use of 
the pre-school classroom, shown adjacent to the old schoolroom would be 
unchanged by this proposal but a planning condition to restrict the use of the 
building no later than 9pm on weekdays was recommended to help protect the 
amenity of 67 Hall Road.  

Cheltenham Borough Council was satisfied that the refurbishment would preserve 
the external appearance of this heritage building.

A new pedestrian access was proposed using an existing emergency vehicle 
access road from Church Road to the south. This route would continue to provide 
access to Western Power’s electricity sub-station with security gates at each end.  
Western Power had no objection to this arrangement.

Members noted that 20 new cycle stands for 40 bikes and 100 scooter parking 
spaces were proposed to be located close to this new access.  Ms Townsend 
explained that scooters were a popular mode of transport and that in the absence 
of a parking area, they were currently parked adjacent to the Hall.   The Highway 
Authority was satisfied with the additional parking provision and the location of the 

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

facilities for non motorised modes of transport which would assist in encouraging 
increased use as there was currently no pupil provision on site at present.

Ms Townsend referred to the photo at Slide 19 which showed the rear of the school, 
with the school’s playing fields to the west. The ‘forest school’ was located in the 
south-west corner of the school site and was unaffected by the proposals.  The 
County Council’s allotments lay beyond the edge of the playing field. 

It was noted there had been a request by the local Member and Parish Council that 
an additional pedestrian access be created in the north-western corner of the 
school site to help relieve traffic congestion on Hall Road and encourage walking.  
This suggested new access would involve using some of the County Council’s 
allotment land to the west to allow a link to be made to the PROW network beyond 
the school boundaries.  

While an additional pedestrian access was considered during consultation before 
the planning application was submitted, a new pedestrian access from the west did 
not form part of this planning application.   It was explained that the school had 
considered the suggestion but had concerns about its remoteness from the school 
buildings.  The Highway Authority did not consider this suggested pedestrian 
access was necessary to permit this development and was satisfied with the access 
arrangements for this application.     

Ms Townsend advised that this position could be reassessed at some future time.  
Consultation with allotment holders could be carried out as the development 
proposals in the area become known, allowing for developer contributions for 
infrastructure improvements to be sought if necessary.

While concerns about additional traffic generated by the expansion of this school 
were acknowledged, the Highway Authority had reviewed the information submitted 
with this application and considered that the proposed strategy to manage the 
increased attendance at the school which included a variety of measures to achieve 
a 20% modal shift target away from car use was acceptable.  The potential increase 
in car journeys to and from the school was not considered to result in traffic which 
would have a severe or unacceptable impact on highway safety.

Ms Townsend explained that officers were of the opinion that there was no 
necessity to seek further mitigation for this development which would delay the 
commencement and prevent the school being ready in time for the planned pupil 
intake in September 2020.  It was noted that local children may then have to travel 
further afield in order to find a school increasing traffic on local roads.  

Ms Townsend introduced Chris Mead who was a consultant for the Highway 
Authority and was present to assist with questions about the traffic impacts of the 
development.

The Chairperson invited the registered speakers to address the Committee.  

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

Sam Porter, Head teacher at Leckhampton Primary (Supporting): 

“For many years, Leckhampton C of E Primary School has worked hard to serve 
the needs of the children and families within its locality. Over the decades, the 
school has grown to meet the demand for places within its community and remains 
committed to meeting the locality need.  

The proposed design supports the school in delivering this commitment as well as 
providing further opportunities to develop enhanced provision and safety.

Such opportunities and facilities would include;
- A new suite of flexible classrooms and outdoor area which supports the 

school's vision for the future.
-  Additional toilets; a concern which has been consistently raised by parents, 

staff and children over many years.
- A new hall allowing the school family to come together at key times of the 

day and year; one of the primary concerns raised by parents and staff.
- The relocation of the hall ensures that community use continues whilst 

limiting the impact on our closest neighbours.
- The repurposing of the current dining room into a Performing Arts space; 

allowing for increased class room and extra-curricular sessions in dance, 
drama and music.

- A welcoming front entrance which will keep staff and children safe at all 
times.

- A re-design of the car park space providing clear segregation of 
pedestrians and vehicles; improving safety for all. The ability for 

delivery vehicles and coaches to turn into the school premises will alleviate 
the inevitable traffic issues faced by parents and residents at the start and 
end of the school day.

- Works to the grass pitch and the addition of the Multi Use Games Area 
(MUGA) will facilitate the school in making greater use of the space for a 
larger proportion of the year.

The development of the comprehensive travel plan has been a positive and 
encouraging piece of work for the school.  indeed our most recent efforts during 
"Walk to School Week" in the Summer demonstrate that it is possible to change 
habits and significantly reduce numbers of cars at peak times. innovative ways to 
tackle the primary concerns of parents have been identified and they are keen to 
become actively involved in working with the school to achieve these aims.  

Through the travel plan we are also looking at ways in which we can work directly 
with our closest neighbours to improve traffic issues which directly affect them. The 
additional entrance to the school off Church Lane will allow for an improved flow in 
and out of the school buildings at peak times with supervision, alleviating 
congestion in Hall Road.

ln response to the suggestion that a rear entrance gate is added to the school, I 
have a number of significant concerns which will impact on the day to day running 
of the school and also have implications regarding pupil safety.

Page 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

These are as follows;
- The proposed rear access would not be clearly visible from areas of the 

school field.  Additional members of staff would need to supervise this area 
at break times, which would impact on staff workload.

- Gates are manned at key times by the senior team, this enables staff to 
connect with the school community as well as address any areas of concern. 
Pupil safety is paramount and on several occasions, younger pupils have 
been prevented from running out into the road by the member of staff on 
gate duty. There is no capacity to allocate additional staff to a gate at the far 
end of the field.

- The current allotment path, has been known to flood and becomes very 
boggy during rainy periods. Parents and pupils will not access this path 
during these times.

- The field to the side of the allotment path, Lotts Meadow also floods and 
becomes very boggy. Dog walkers report they do not use the field during 
certain months as it is difficult to access. There are currently issues with dog 
fouling in the meadow.

- The allotment path becomes very overgrown and is routinely cleared 
voluntarily by a resident. Should this cease, the path will become overgrown 
and access limited.

- Should parents feel that they wish to access the school from Burrows field, 
they are able to do so by taking a short cut through the residential area. lf so 
inclined, they could use the allotment path currently at the back of the school 
and continue to Church Road and enter through the new access which will 
take them directly to scooter and cycle storage.

- The perimeter of the school is flanked by allotments and residential 
properties. This provides additional, invaluable security for the school as 
there is a natural barrier between pathways and the school.

As Headteacher and head of the school family, I take the matter of safety and 
security incredibly seriously and whilst I am committed to improving travel to and 
from school, would not raise these issues without just cause.

ln conclusion, the expansion of Leckhampton C of E Primary School will bring about 
a number of significantly positive outcomes for the school as outlined.

We look forward to the expansion of the school, as it will enable us to continue to 
meet the needs of the community as well as enhancing provision for the school 
family as a whole”.

Clare Medland (Applicant GCC): 
“The County Council has a statutory duty to ensure that there are sufficient school 
places across the County.

The proposed expansion of Leckhampton CE Primary School is in response to the 
increase in the population in the immediate area. Pupil numbers have been 
monitored carefully over the last few years and the population growth shows this 
trend is set to continue.

Page 8



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 9 -

The Sept 2018 intake 86% of children lived less than 0.6 miles from the school and 
this year 92% of children lived within 1 mile of the school. Well within the 2 mile 
statutory walking distance for a child under the age of 8 years.

Should this application not be granted there would be insufficient places to meet 
local demand and pupils would be allocated schools away from their local 
community requiring parents to get in their cars and drive across the town to access 
school places.

The cost of the expansion will be met from the council’s basic need capital grant.
An assessment has been undertaken to ensure the new build meets the 
accommodation requirements of a 3FE (630 place) school and the school site is big 
enough to accommodate the larger school.

Two public engagement events were held in December and January and feedback 
informed the final design.

In light of concerns raised about traffic and pollution in the area, officers have 
worked closely with Planning and Highways to ensure appropriate mitigation has 
been put in place to make the proposal acceptable in planning terms.

Cotswold Transport Planning was commissioned to undertake an assessment and 
to carry out consultation with the school, Highways and the public. This was all 
drawn together to inform the Transport Statement and Travel Plan submitted with 
the application.

The key findings of the assessment work were as follows:
- Children are attending from the immediate locality with two thirds (65%) of 

pupils live within 0.62 miles of the school. The majority (83%) live within 1.2 
mile of the school.

- Recent travel surveys of existing staff and pupils, illustrated that 64% of 
pupils travel via sustainable modes to and from the school (i.e. walking and 
riding either by scooter or by bicycle), compared to 36% of pupils whose 
journey is made via car.

- Peak travel times are between 08:00-09:00 and 15:00-1600 and with the 
robust Travel Plan in place, it is anticipated that the additional vehicle 
movements are acceptable by expansion.  . 

- The GCC Think Travel team consider a further 20% reduction in single 
occupancy vehicle trips could be achievable with the robust Travel Plan in 
place.

- An independent traffic survey looked at safe and legal parking in the vicinity 
during the 15 minute AM drop off and PM pick up period. The results 
demonstrated that there was still residual capacity for parking on the 
surrounding highway network, within walking distance, in the peak periods.

- Currently all deliveries, refuse collection and coaches, park on Hall Road, 
which can cause obstruction and disrupt the flow of traffic. New on site 
access and parking will enable vehicles to access the site, turn around and 
exit in forward gear.

Page 9



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 10 -

- Furthermore, off-site works to the highway will provide safer routes to the 
school. This includes, formalising parking on the western side of Hall Road to 
facilitate parking on the road and not on the pavement; plus a number of 
pedestrian improvements within the vicinity of the site that will be secured by 
Condition.

Travel Plan
A Steering Group will be set up by the school to work with the Think Travel team to 
implement the Travel Plan and monitor the travel behaviour of staff and pupils 
annually.  
.
It has been demonstrated that the proposed expansion and mitigating measures 
put in place are acceptable in relation to highway safety.

I must also mention that we have been asked to consider a proposal to include an 
additional footpath and access route to the rear of the school site. We have met 
with Cllr Dobie on a number of occasions to discuss this matter and explain the 
current concerns that the school has in relation to safeguarding in that area and the 
extra site management issues it would create. I would also advise that at the public 
consultation meetings, there were concerns raised by allotment holders about the 
potential loss of allotments. We have worked really hard to incorporate all the 
Highways Team recommendations and have created a second access route into 
the school site (off Church Road). It has been confirmed that the mitigating 
measures put in place are considered acceptable , and should be supported.

There is no requirement for further mitigation at this time and if there is an 
aspiration for the development and delivery of further footpaths and access routes 
to support the community or to facilitate new housing development expected in the 
area, then the school would be happy to join in conversations about options at that 
time. Any footpath proposal outside of the school boundary is not the responsibility 
of the Education Department or the School and as this proposal is not required by 
the Highways Authority need to mitigate this scheme it should be considered 
separately.

As and when any new housing application comes forward, the suggested footpath 
could be brought forward as a potential mitigation measure for the new 
development and funded by the developer. Schools capital funding is only allocated 
to provide additional school places and is not available to meet the wider 
aspirations of the local community.

This school expansion scheme has Highways Authority and planning officer 
recommendation for approval and your approval will enable this Council to meet its 
statutory obligations of providing sufficient school places for the families in 
Leckhampton”.  

Chris Nelson, Chairman Leckhampton with Warden Hill Parish Council: 
“Good morning and thank for this opportunity to talk to you about our primary
school. I am speaking today as the Chair of Leckhampton and Warden Hill

Page 10



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 11 -

Parish Council. Although I have only just taken over this role, I have been on
the Parish Council for the last 5 years and know the area well. During that time
I have also been a Borough Councillor for Cheltenham, sat on their Planning
Committee and participated in multiple planning applications and Public
lnquiries for our area of Leckhampton. For one reason or another, our Parish
seems to have attracted a wide range of planning activity, some of it welcome,
some of it not. So I think it would be fair to say that I am well qualified to comment 
and provide evidence.

We have provided a number of formal responses for this application over the
last year. This school is clearly well run and is extremely popular with our
residents. We can well understand the desire to increase the school size. But
increasing by 5O% brings with it concerns over how children will travel to
school. church Road is already heavily congested at school drop-off and
collection times. This road provides the only route round the south east side
of Cheltenham. Church Road is critical to the Cheltenham traffic system,
carrying about 1300 vehicles in the peak morning traffic period. 

Parents taking children to Leckhampton primary create a major problem
because they disrupt and block the traffic flows as they manoeuvre and park
and as they cross the traffic flows to get to and from the school entrance on
Hall Road. we also have growing concerns about air pollution and are
investing time and money into doing our own monitoring. we are not yet
ready to publish our evidence but have seen spikes of pollution that give us
cause for concern. So we have always been keen to minimise any extra traffic
in the area and remain so with this application.

To that end, we would wish to see a rear pedestrian access and path provided
(over the allotments at the rear of the school), to allow access on foot and
cycle from the area of Burrows Field. This should help reduce the number of
parents using cars and perhaps even reduce the current levels of congestion
and air pollution on Church Road. There is strong cross-party, parental and
\ community support for this proposal.

I am aware of some concerns over the availability of staff to provide access
control for this additional entrance. Our enquiries suggest that governors and
parents would be prepared to carry out this task, so that should not be a
reason to refuse. lf further consultation also needs to take place with the
allotment owners, we would be happy to assist. The money required should
also be seen as a good investment for the new secondary school, as if Church
Road congestion is made worse by this expansion, it will complicate the traffic
case for the secondary school. I understand this rear entrance proposal would
only cost f40k, which is hardly significant in the scheme of things.  It represents just 
1% of the £4M budget for the overall project.

So if you agree this planning application, we would strongly recommend that a
condition is applied to allow the creation of a suitable rear access and path.
We believe that this will lead to reduced traffic approaching the school, less
congestion, less danger for pupils coping with busy roads and less pollution

Page 11



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 12 -

affecting the health of young children. ln other words, it would help provide a
safer and healthier environment for the whole school.

Please consider adding a condition for a rear pedestrian access and path if this 
plan approved.  Urge members to talk, discuss and reflect on the application.  As a  
meeting is also scheduled on Saturday to discuss the secondary school site.  

Members should put their political hats on and not sit as Planning Committee 
members.”

At this point the Chairperson advised Mr Nelson that the role of the Committee was 
quasi-judicial and not political and he urged members to be mindful of that! 

County Councillor Iain Dobie: 
“At the site visit and today you heard statements from the Head, and from the 
architects/builders behind the project, which I believe to be misleading. I wish to 
address those statements, putting the record straight as I see it.

I am very familiar with Leckhampton primary as a former governor there, firstly as a 
parent governor and latterly as a GCC governor.

When plans for the school expansion were originally rolled out the option of a rear 
entrance to Burrows playing field via the GCC-owned allotments was included. I 
welcomed this, envisaging a gate-secured walking and cycling route which would 
be opened briefly just before and then just after the school day. For these two short 
periods the gate might well be supervised either by a member of staff or by a 
governor or other trusted person who had gone through safeguarding checks as the 
current Safeguarding Governor at Warden Hill primary I am steeped in 
Safeguarding and totally committed to it. This proposed new rear entrance to the 
west of the school site would obviously be well away from the busy, dangerous and 
polluted roads to the south and east of the site Church Road and Hall Road 
respectively.

The parish council and the Conservative borough councillor for Leckhampton both 
strongly back this quiet, green, rear entrance option to encourage walking and 
cycling to the school.

However, at the site visit we were told that the school head and the 
architects/builders were against the rear entrance option which is supported by me, 
by the parish council, by the borough councillor, and by the many local residents 
which we collectively democratically represent.

Rather than this preferred option to the west, we were told that the head and the 
architects/builders were proposing a new side entrance to the school off Church 
Road to the south. As Councillor Vines will confirm, Church Road is a very busy “rat 
run” for many commuters. Traffic along this road is as chaotic as it is along Hall 
Road to the front of the school at “dropping off time”. Children entering through the 
proposed Church Road entrance would be at risk.

Page 12



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 13 -

We heard that the Church Road entrance to the south would be staffed at the 
beginning and end of the day for safeguarding purposes. Well then, those same 
staff could logically be used on the above-proposed western entrance instead!

It is important to look at the overall school catchment area to appreciate that the 
“green corridor” entrance via Burrows and the allotments would not only serve 
children currently coming to school from the north (e.g. from the Allenfield estate) 
and west but also children coming to Leckhampton primary in future from the 364 
homes of the Miller estate, the first phase of which is scheduled for 2021. The 
natural “desire line” to enter the school via the northwest “green corridor” will be 
future-proofed should this Committee wish to support my proposal”.   

The Chairperson invited questions from Members following the presentation.  
 
Councillor Tracey asked for clarification in relation to the footpath.  Ms Townsend 
explained that the path referred to by Councillor  Dobie was not included within this 
application.  Councillor Tracey asked if the application could include a separate in 
and out gates for vehicles, as Church Road was narrow and during peak times this 
would require a lot of supervision.  Mr Mead, Highways Consultant explained that 
the proposed access was considerably better that what was currently in place as 
pedestrians and vehicles are currently using mixed access. Under the proposed 
application they would be separated.  Therefore, children could move freely within 
the site and the footpath would have increased visibility.  

Councillor Cordwell wished to know if the parking on site was predominantly for 
teaching staff and if this was the case the conflict would be limited during the day.  
Mr Mead confirmed this was the case - the majority of staff were full time and some 
were part time.  He explained that the application would enable the school to 
manage its parking on site and there would be provision for visitors and disabled 
parking on site.  In essence no parking related to the school would impact on the 
local highway.  

Councillor Hale felt it would the ideal opportunity to include an in and out system 
with a drop off point for the safety of children and given the need for climate change 
the cost would be minimal.  Mr Mead explained that the school had a travel plan, 
which promoted sustainable transport.  However, the application before Members 
was addressing todays situation and it was not possible to pre-empt the future 
concerns.  

Councillor Robinson asked if solar panels were considered during the design stage, 
as given this was a GCC Building the Authority should be promoting alternative 
energy.  Ms Townsend explained that an energy statement was included as part of 
the application which stated that, if the budget allowed, solar panels could be 
installed on the hall roof.  As no details have been submitted, it would appear that 
solar panels had not been included in the proposal.  However it there were some 
existing panels on the classroom adjacent to the hall.  

Councillor Hirst noted that the application would increase the capacity of the school 
by 165 school places as of September 2020 and there were further residential 

Page 13



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 14 -

building projects in the local vicinity. He wished to know if the new planned houses 
would place a further demand on the school.  Mr Mead confirmed that there were 
new homes in the pipeline. As such the Highway Authority would continue to seek 
to mitigate the demand and would check the routes to ensure they were safe and 
acceptable.  This application was merely accommodating the current local demand.  
Ms Townsend confirmed that there had been a growth in the number of under-fives 
and the places were required to meet the existing local demand.  

Councillor Hirst asked a supplementary question, he wished to know if the Authority 
was future proofing.  

The Chairman asked Clare Medland as the GCC Officer representing Education to 
clarify this point.  Mrs Medland explained that any residential application was 
considered against the needs of the local community and it was evident that many 
of those children were already coming through the education system, as 90 children 
had been admitted to the School in September 2019.  The application did not 
consider any future residential development, it was required to meet the current 
local demand.  Other schools in the local area would then be required to meet the 
additional local demand.  

In response to a question by Councillor Tracey, Mr Mead confirmed that he had 
conducted a site visit and had walked the route and the proposed alternative route.  
He had no qualms with the highway recommendations.  

Councillor Hale asked if Members should ignore climate change in relation to 
planning consideration in the future.  Mr Mead confirmed the.  Highway Authority 
was actively trying to find ways to get people out of their cars and the school travel 
plan promoted walking, cycling, etc.  He felt that the scheme was well designed but 
it was not possible to predict what the situation would be in the future.  

Councillor Fisher wished to know why the proposed entrance through the 
allotments as referred to by Councillor Dobie had been taken out of the application.  
Ms Townsend advised the committee that it was part of the pre-application 
consultation.  However the school had had concerns about the suggested rear 
path, so it was not included in the final application.  Councillor Fisher asked whether 
there was a technical or financial reason for the rear path being excluded.  Mr 
Phillips explained that it was the applicant’s decision and not that of thee Planning 
Authority. .  It was reiterated that the rear path was not included as part of the 
planning application.  

Councillor Vines remarked that the proposal was good and the school was highly 
rated and would undoubtedly continue to achieve in the future.  He appreciated that 
all schools were chaotic at peak times. However he would like to explore ways to 
include the rear entrance.  Councillor Vines confirmed that he was the neighbouring 
ward councillor and many local residents would also like a rear entrance to access 
the site.  If this could be included he would be happy to propose to accept the 
application.  

Page 14



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 15 -

The Chairperson clarified that the rear entrance was not part of this application and 
the Committee had to determine the application before them.  

Mr Evans, Solicitor confirmed that the footpath was not part of the application and 
the Committee were to determine the application before them.  A Grampian 
condition could require a footpath to be put in place before the occupation of the 
new buildings.  However, he advised the Committee that off-site consultation would 
need to be undertaken with the allotment owners and the approval of the Secretary 
of State sought in relation to the loss of allotment land. This would delay occupation 
of the development by at least 13 weeks, which would impact the September 2020 
intake of children.  More critically, Mr Evans explained that six tests had to be 
applied when determining whether to impose a Grampian condition. Primarily 
Members had to be satisfied that the provision of the rear footpath was necessary 
to make this application acceptable in planning terms. In assessing the need for the 
rear path, Members should consider the advice of the Highways Officer was 
satisfied with the proposal without the suggested rear access.  

Mr Mead advised that there was a safe, well-lit overlooked tarmacked footpath 
available to all users and if there were to be a problem with that footpath the 
Authority would repair it quickly.  Children could be seen and heard from the safe 
well-lit path and it was not acceptable to expect a lesser standard.  As the 
suggested rear entrance did not have street lighting, a tarmacked footpath or 
overlooked and children’s safety would be of a concern.  

Mr Mead advised the Committee that the next residential development in 
Leckhampton would be urged to look at the rear path and perhaps it could be 
factored in if the school required it in future.  

Councillor Preest welcomed the new fresh approach by the Highways Authority and 
thought the committee should embrace this approach.  

The Committee entered into debate.  

Councillor Wheeler recognised that all schools had issues with pick up and drop off 
times. However this was usually due to the inconsiderate parking of other parents 
and if teachers addressed them they often received abuse.  He accepted that the 
area was terribly congested and commended the Highways Officer on his pragmatic 
answer.    However, Councillor Dobie was only asking for a gate at the rear of the 
site which could be locked after peak times and surely a teacher could man the 
gate at these pick times.  Councillor Wheeler remarked that the land up to the gate 
was GCC property, so surely a Grampian condition could be applied.  It would then 
be the parents’ choice if they allowed their child to use the route via the rear of the 
site.  

Councillor Fisher referred to the Travel Plan and commented that such plans had 
not been adhered to on other sites as they were not mandatory.  He felt that the 
suggested rear access was a good idea as it would remove some of the traffic from 
Church Road and Hall Road.  He felt that climate change need to be cajoled and he 
made reference to Tredington Primary School who had a drop off point for children, 

Page 15



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 16 -

in order to reduce congestion.  Councillor Fisher explained that walking and cycling 
should be encouraged and that children from the new Millers Homes Development 
should be included.  He added that it made sense to include a rear access point. 
The Councillor suggested that the application should be deferred for further 
consideration of the rear access point.  

Councillor Fisher advised the Committee that they should consider the children’s 
futures and the more children travelling on foot would reduce the number of vehicle 
emissions.  Once again he moved for a deferral, as he felt there were too many 
unanswered questions at this stage.  

Councillor Cordwell added there was no point in deferring the application and the 
suggestion of a rear access point was discussed at the pre-application stage and it 
was not deemed suitable by the school. Hence it has not been included in the 
application before the Committee.  He clarified the application before the 
Committee had support from the Highway Authority and the Environmental Health 
Office in relation to air quality.  With reference to the proposed deferral or imposition 
of a Grampian condition, Councillor Cordwell reminded the Committee that if this 
were a private application, the Authority could be taken to appeal. .  

The Chairman remarked that, in terms of the proposed rear access, it was a 
question of what was essential to make the application acceptable and not merely 
desirable.

Councillor Wheeler seconded Councillor Fisher’s motion to defer the application. 
 
Mr Evans explained in terms of deferral, it was necessary to clarify the reason for 
deferral, whilst giving due consideration to the timescales in relation to the school in 
take.  Members were advised that the application was deemed to be a Regulation 3 
Application and there was no right of appeal as it was the Council’s own application.  
Mr Evans reminded members of the tests to be applied in relation to the suggested 
Grampian condition. 

Councillor Bird remarked that the proposal for deferral was not a practical way 
forward.   

Councillor Fisher referred to his previous remarks and reiterated the need for 
deferral as he felt there was a lot of support within the committee, in addition to the 
local residents, Parish and Borough Council. He added that the footpath could be 
added at a relatively low cost and would show local residents that the Authority 
discouraged driving to school.  Councillor Fisher felt that the Committee should 
support the local people and there were no financial or technical reasons for not 
having the rear footpath.  

Mr Mead explained that the Highways Authority were actively trying to get people 
out of their cars and that the school travel plan was sustainable.  He summarised 
that the application was deemed safe. .  

Page 16



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 17 -

Councillor Fisher stated that the reason for deferral was because of the view of 
local residents and Councillors.  He added that the County Council had signed up to 
Climate Change and most children travelled to school on scooters, in addition to the 
highway safety aspects.  

Councillor Vines advised the Committee that he wanted to the application to go 
through but had concerns over the footpath and was minded to support Councillor 
Fisher’s proposal to defer at this stage.  Councillor Vines required clarification, in 
relation to the Millers Homes development and if there was a cast iron commitment 
to include the footpath in there plan.  Mr Mead explained that the Miller Homes 
Development had already been agreed prior to this application. However, this could 
be looked at again when future residential proposals come forward. .

Mr Mead reiterated that the Highway Authority had no concerns over the current 
application and there were no highway reasons to require a third access point.  

Councillor Fisher once again called for a deferral, as the Authority owned the site, 
land and the allotments it was possible.  Mrs Medland explained that a delay would 
mean the school would be unable to accommodate the September 2020 intake.  

Councillor Tracey proposed to accept the Officers recommendation.  

Councillor Hirst remarked that he was not in favour of deferral and the additional 
footpath should be considered in the next residential development application to 
construct a safe alternative route to the school.  

Mr Evans reiterated his legal advice regarding deferral, reminded Members of the 
advice given by the Highway Authority on the application and the need for the 
Secretary of State approval in relation to the use of allotment land.  

Councillor Fisher stated that he had asked if the grounds for not including the 
footpath were technical or financial and he had been advised they were not. 

Councillor Cordwell explained the time periods involved in consulting with the 
Secretary of State and allotment holders, which could result in a considerable delay 
to application.  He advised the Committee that the pre-application considerations 
were not part of the formal application and Members should consider the 
application before them at the meeting.  

Councillor Wheeler asked if there pathways through the allotments that children 
could use.  He added that Members had not looked at the allotment site and 
perhaps there was a way through for children if they so wished to use it.  

The Chairperson explained that the allotment site was not part of the application 
and should not be considered so.  

On being put to the vote to defer the application at this stage for further consultation 
on the proposed rear footpath, the motion was lost (5 in favour, 7 against).  

Page 17



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 18 -

Councillor Bird referred to Councillor Vines’ earlier proposal to approve the 
application but with the imposition of Grampian condition requiring the rear footpath.  
At this point Councillor Vines withdrew his proposal.  

Councillor Hirst proposed to accept the Officer recommendation.  .   

Councillor Bird seconded Councillor Hirst’s proposal. 
 
Councillor Wheeler proposed an amendment to the motion that the approval should 
include a condition requiring the provision of a lockable gate at the rear of the site

Councillor Fisher seconded Councillor Wheeler’s proposal.  

At this stage the committee debated Councillor Wheeler’s proposed amendment.  

Councillor Cordwell felt that the gate did not achieve anything at this stage and the 
Head Teacher had said that it could be looked at in the future.  He urged the 
Committee to look at the current situation.  

Councillor Robinson sought clarification that gate would be locked.  

The Chairperson reminded the Committee that the School and Officers had said 
there would be safeguarding issues and the issue of the gate could be considered 
as part of future development.  

On being put to the vote, the proposed amendment was lost (3 in favour, 6 against).  

Councillor Hale asked if future housing developments could be conditioned to 
include a rear access point.  The Chairperson explained that it was not possible to 
condition with that proviso.  Mr Evans confirmed that would involve a separate 
application.  

The Chairperson then put Councillor Hirst’s proposal to accept the officer 
recommendation as presented before the Committee, as seconded by Councillor 
Bird.  On being put to the vote the application was passed (8 in favour, 1 against 
and 2 abstentions).  

The Planning Committee therefore: 

Resolved 

That planning permission be granted for the reasons summarised in 
paragraphs 7.63 to 7.65 and subject to the planning conditions in Section 8.0 
of the report.  

16. SECOND REVIEW OF GLOUCESTERSHIRE'S STATEMENT OF COMMUNITY 
INVOLVEMENT REPORT 

Robin Drake, Principal Planning Officer presented the report in detail.  

Page 18



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 19 -

In response to a question, it was explained that in the absence of the Director of 
Communities and Infrastructure, the role had been delegated to Simon Excel in the 
interim.  Members were advised that Colin Chick had been appointed to the position 
and would take up the post as of the 1st November 2019.  

Resolved 

That the committee noted the intention of the Director to:

•  prepare a further revised (2nd Review) Statement of Community
Involvement (SCI) for Gloucestershire and provide an eight week period 
of public consultation thereon as soon as is practicable;

• report upon the results of the public consultation to the Planning 
Committee prior to finalising the further revised SCI; and

• prepare a Cabinet report to recommend the adoption of the document 
by the County Council

17. PLANNING ENFORCEMENT REPORT 

Andy Birchley, Enforcement Officer presented the report in detail.  Members noted 
the significant increase in workload. In response a question, Mr Birchley clarified 
that he was only Enforcement Officer , but that he performed the role with 
assistance of the Monitoring Officer and other members of  the planning  team.  Mr 
Birchley was congratulated on his efforts.  

Resolved

That the report be noted.  

18. DELEGATED DECISIONS 21ST JUNE - 12TH SEPTEMBER 2019 

Sarah Pearse, Principal Planning Officer presented the report.  

Resolved

That the delegated decisions made between 21st June and 12th September 
2019 be noted.  

CHAIRPERSON

Meeting concluded at 12.14 pm

Page 19



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 20 -

Page 20



APPLICATION NO: 18/0032/TWMAJW VALIDATION 
DATE:

16th April  2018

DISTRICT REF:            18/00400/CM

APPLICANT: William Gilder Ltd, Teddington Hands, Evesham Road, 
Toddington, Tewkesbury, Gloucestershire, GL20 8NE

SITE: Land To West Of Wingmoor Farm, Stoke Road, Bishop’s 
Cleeve

 

PROPOSAL: Biosolids Cake Liming Treatment for a 5 year temporary 
period.

PARISH OF:

Stoke Orchard and 
Tredington

SITE AREA: 1.783 Ha GRID REF: 393942
227368

LAND TO WEST OF WINGMOOR FARM, STOKE ROAD, BISHOP’S CLEEVE. 
APPLICATION NO: 18/0032/TWMAJW 

Planning application to undertake bio solids cake liming treatment of sludges 
arising from the treatment of waste at the applicant’s Toddington Waste 
Treatment Centre, and bio-solids from waste water treatment facilities so it can 
be used as agricultural fertiliser and soil improver for a 5 year temporary 
period.

INTRODUCTION

1.0 Members will recall that this application was due to be reported to the Planning 
Committee on 31st January 2019. At this time, the application was deferred from 
consideration pending resolution of a procedural error regarding statutory land 
ownership notification procedure when unregistered land across part of the access to 
the development site was identified. This was addressed by the applicant and the 
application was represented to the Planning Committee on 21st March 2019 with an 
Officer Recommendation to refuse the same. The original report to Members is 
attached at Appendix A.

1.1 At the March 2019 Planning Committee Members resolved:

Page 21

Agenda Item 6



“That planning permission is granted in principle, subject to any call in by the 
Secretary of State. In addition the requirement of the Planning Committee to ratify 
any planning conditions that the application should be subject to at the next Planning 
Committee and a section 106 agreement being in place prior to the issuing of 
planning permission to overcome the Highway Authority’s planning objection.”

1.2 Following this resolution the application was due to be reported back to Planning 
Committee so that proposed planning conditions could be ratified by the Members. 

1.3 The proposed conditions were attached as Item 6 to the Agenda on 9th May 2019. 
However, the applicant requested a deferral to the next available Planning 
Committee and Members resolved that the application be deferred until the July 
Committee meeting. No Planning Committee was held in July and the matter was not 
considered at the September  26th Planning Committee since the applicant and 
County Council were considering the legal advice obtained by the applicant regarding 
the requirement for a legal agreement relating to the highway visibility splay matters.

REPRESENTATIONS

2.0 Following the above deferral, further representations have been received by the 
Waste Planning Authority (WPA).

These relate to:

Procedural matters regarding notification to the Parish Councils

Representations from residents nearby and additional Parish Councils

Highway Authority reconsideration of requirements

2.1 Procedural matters regarding notification to the Parish Councils

The Stoke Orchard and Tredington Parish Council has raised concerns regarding a 
failure to be notified of the March Planning Committee. As such they were unaware 
of the date that the application was to be considered and were denied the opportunity 
to make representations to the Planning Committee (verbally or otherwise) before a 
decision was made. It is noted that the Parish Council did request to speak at the 
deferred Planning Committee in January this year and were in attendance to do so. 
The Parish Council’s formal representation was reported at Paragraph 6.8 of the 
original report considered at the Planning Committee on 21st March 2019.

2.2 Consequently the Parish Council have requested to speak to Members of the 
Planning Committee as part of the decision making process. 

.

Page 22



2.3 Representations received since the March 2019 Planning Committee from 
residents and Parishes.

Representations from three residents along with Uckington and Elmstone Hardwicke 
Parish Council have been received. These are available to view through the 
Council’s Public Access website.

The matters raised relate to the proposed development include:

 Being contrary to National and Local Plan policies;
 No Green Belt special circumstances;
 Other suitable alternative sites;
 Access;
 Odour;
 Noise;
 Air quality;
 Traffic and transport;
 Flies, dust and seagulls;
 Cumulative impact of waste sites; and
 Proximity to existing and future housing development.

2.4 GCC legal advice is such that the ‘in principle’ resolution to grant planning permission 
made in March 2019 does not preclude consideration of further material matters.

2.5 The applicant has provided comments in response to the concerns raised above. 
This is available to view on the Council’s Public Access website. Officers have 
considered the representations raised and the responses of the applicant to them. 
Officers accept that the representations raised are material planning considerations, 
but do not consider that they raise any new issues which have not been considered 
previously by Officers in considering the application. 

2.6 Highway Authority reconsideration of requirement

Following the applicant’s legal advice provided in August 2019, which is publicly 
available on the GCC Public Access website, Council Officers and the applicant’s 
representatives met in September 2019 to consider this advice and discuss highway 
options going forward. The outcome of this meeting was that the Highway Authority 
was able to reconsider the need for the highway splay requirements resulting in an 
alternative solution to address highway safety at the gate entrance near to the 
Shooting Club and the Wingmoor landfill and household recycling facility. 

2.7 The Highway Authority has reconsidered the previous advice and its previous 
recommendation to the WPA. The revised consultation response, attached at 
Appendix B, has removed the need for visibility splays to be provided as part of the 
highway safety requirements relating to access and egress at the gated entrance 
serving the shooting club (also serving the Severn Trent Water Treatment Facility) 
near to the Wingmoor Household Waste Recycling Centre (HWRC). 

Page 23



2.8 The existing southern access opens out directly onto a private road in a way that has 
resulted in an inappropriate behaviour of exiting without taking into account adjacent 
accesses. Whilst visibility has been a concern previously, more recent pre-application 
discussion regarding proposals to alter the operational layout arrangements to the 
HWRC, identify that operational arrangements at this site are likely to always be 
subject to change, based on the use. The Highway Authority considers the matter will 
be best dealt with by addressing north/south driver behaviour. In the absence of 
visibility and the possibility that at any time changes may require the adjacent access 
to require different lengths of visibility, the position is proposed to be addressed by 
the Highway Authority (in accepting minimal visibility) with the intervention of a Stop 
Sign/Line to the access to the application site.

2.9 This notably alters the original recommendation to Members in that a S106 legal 
agreement was required to secure maintenance of visibility splays in the long term 
across 3rd party land not in the control of the applicant. This advice of the Highway 
Authority has now been amended and as a result the WPA is recommending that the 
matter is controlled via a Grampian style condition. Such a condition will require that 
the applicant provide the recommended Stop Line and appropriate signage at the 
gated site entrance to the shooting club (also serving Severn Trent Water Treatment 
Facility) near to the HWRC prior to commencement of the development. Given the 
Stop Line Sign option is also on 3rd party land it is recognised that the Highway 
Authority would become the enforcing authority should the applicant be unable to 
maintain the necessary highway safety works through the life of the permission. The 
Highway Authority has statutory powers under Section 230 Highways Act 1980 to 
require the owners of private streets to execute such repairs as are needed to 
obviate danger to traffic. The Highway Authority can undertake the repairs in default 
and recharge the cost thereof. There is a separate power for the Highway Authority 
under Section 230(7) to execute such repairs as are urgently required to prevent or 
remove danger to persons or vehicles in the street.

2.10  If Members choose to accept the revised recommendation of the Highway Authority 
it will require a formal amendment to the resolution of the 21st March 2019 to not 
require a S106 legal agreement. 

RECOMMENDATION

3.0 Further to the 21st March 2019 Planning Committee,  Members are invited to 
consider whether planning permission should be granted subject to the following 
proposed conditions and without the need for a S106 legal agreement and also 
subject to any call in by the Secretary of State under the Town and Country Planning 
(Consultation) (England) Direction 2009 as “Green Belt development”.

Proposed Conditions

Commencement and Duration 

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiry of three years  
from the date of this permission. Written notification of the date of commencement 

Page 24



of development shall be sent to the Waste Planning Authority within seven days of 
such commencement.

Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
(as amended).

2. Waste operations under this permission shall cease no later than the date which is 
the fifth anniversary of the date of commencement of development, as notified 
under condition 1 of this permission, and the site shall be cleared of all plant, 
machinery, equipment, waste, other stored materials, and other equipment 
associated with the operations hereby permitted by no later than three months from 
the date  waste operations cease on the site.

Reason: To minimise the impact on local amenity and in order that the site is 
restored in in the interests of local amenity and the openness of the Green Belt and 
with regard to with WCS Policies 13, GCTJCS Policies SD5, SD6 and NPPF 
paragraphs 133,143-146. 

Permitted Development Rights

3. Notwithstanding the provisions of Part 7, Class L of Schedule 2 of the Town and 
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any 
Order revoking and re-enacting that Order), except for those identified in the 
planning application, no new or replacement buildings, plant structures, screening 
and crushing equipment, shall be brought onto the  site without the prior written 
approval of the Waste Planning Authority.

Reason: To enable the Waste Planning Authority to adequately control, monitor 
and minimise the impacts on the openness of the Green Belt and amenities of the 
local area with regard to WCS Policies 13, GCTJCS Policies SD5, SD6 and NPPF 
paragraphs 133,143-146.

Scope of the permission

4. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out strictly in accordance with 
the submitted Application Form  and Planning Statement (amended) dated 
19/09/2018 and amendment thereof dated 24/09/2018, Transport Statements by 
Cotswold Transport Planning dated March 2018 and 5 Dec 2018, Flood Risk 
Assessment (including Conceptual Drainage Layout) by Amber Planning dated 
April 2018, Ecological Assessment and Mitigation by Willder Ecology dated 14 
February 2018 and the following drawings:

• Site Location Plan drawing number 19151-5000-01 dated March 2018
• Site Plan drawing number 19151-5000-03 dated March 2018
• Site layout plan drawing number 19159-1250-02 dated March 2018
• Landscape Plan drawing number 19159-1250-01 dated March 2018

save insofar as any contents of the documents and drawings listed above are 
amended by the requirements of the conditions specified below.

Page 25



Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the 
details in the submitted planning application with regard to WCS Policies 13, 14, 
19, WLP Policy 37,  GCTJCS Policies SD5, SD6 and NPPF paragraphs 108,109, 
133,143-146. 

5. No additional processes for the treatment of waste, other than those specified in 
the submitted planning application and supporting information, shall be carried out 
at any time on the site. 

Reason: In order to define the scope of this consent minimises the impact on the 
openness of the Green Belt and in the interests of the amenity of the area with 
regard to WCS Policies 13, WLP Policy 37, GCTJCS Policies SD5, SD6 and NPPF 
paragraphs 133,143-146.

Maintenance and Retention of Records

6. From the commencement of waste importation into the site, records shall be 
maintained of the quantity and type of material accepted at and removed from the 
site and  also the number of vehicles bringing materials to the site and the 
registration details of each such vehicle. These records and details shall be 
maintained throughout the course of the development hereby approved until the 
operations permanently cease in accordance with condition 2 of this permission 
and shall be retained and maintained in legible form for a period of 24 months for 
each calendar month from the commencement of the acceptance of waste 
materials at the site. The records and details required under this condition shall be 
made available in legible form to the Waste Planning Authority within 7 days of a 
written request made by the Waste Planning Authority and in any event all records 
and details required under this condition, relating to the previous three calendar 
months’ activity shall be submitted to the Waste Planning Authority every three 
months for the duration of the development hereby permitted (whether or not 
requested), starting from the commencement of the acceptance of waste materials 
at the site.

Reason: To define the scope of the application in the interests of highway safety in 
with regard to WCS Policy 19, NPPF paragraphs 108,109,110.

Throughput Limits

7. The Biosolids Cake Liming Plant hereby permitted shall be used exclusively to 
process biosolids cake subject to the following limits: The total quantity of materials 
handled at the site shall not exceed 4,000 tonnes per calendar month (for the 
period January to December each calendar year) subject to a maximum of 20,000 
tonnes per calendar year (for the period January to December each calendar year).

Reason: To define the scope of the application in the interests of highway safety in 
with regard to WCS Policy 19, NPPF paragraphs 108,109,110.

Page 26



8. No direct public trade shall be carried out from the site in association with the 
development hereby approved.  

Reason: To define the scope of the application in the interests of highway safety 
with regard to WCS Policy 19, NPPF paragraphs 108,109,110.

Hours of Operation

9. With the exception of necessary works arising from  emergency situations, no 
operations (including movement of: waste, recyclable materials, processed 
materials to or from the site; and vehicles, delivery and removal of materials, plant 
and equipment) shall take place other than between the following hours:

07:00- 18:00 hours Monday to Fridays and 07:00 – 13:00 on Saturdays. There 
shall be no materials accepted onto the site and no operations carried out on the 
site at any time on Sundays, Bank or Public holidays. 

Reason: In the interests of the amenity of the area with regard to WLP Policy 38.

Highway Safety

10. No development shall commence until a highways safety scheme relating to the 
provision of a Stop Line and Stop Sign at Access B (plan ref 18-0032-TWMAJW 
Access B (shared gated entrance from Tip Road past Shooting Club) has been 
agreed in writing with the WPA and fully implemented. The said Stop Line and Stop 
Sign shall be maintained and presented as highway signing for the purposes of 
egress throughout the lifetime of this permission or as otherwise agreed by the 
WPA.

Reason: To provide a safe and suitable access and egress in the interests of 
highway safety for all users of both the adjacent Wingmoor waste site and the 
users of Access B (existing shooting club gated entrance adjacent to Tip Road) 
with regard to WCS Policy 19, NPPF paragraphs 108,109,110.

11. The access route from said Access B (plan ref 18-0032-TWMAJW Access B 
(shared gated entrance  from Tip Road past Shooting Club) to the site shall not 
come into beneficial use until a scheme comprising a monitoring, maintenance and 
reparation strategy for the said access route has been submitted to and is agreed 
in writing with the WPA. Such a scheme shall be fully implemented and include 
maintenance and repair of the route throughout the lifetime of the permission.

Reason: To ensure safe and suitable access in the interests of highway safety for 
all users of both the adjacent Wingmoor waste site and the users of the said 
Access B as well as protecting the presence of culverts and nearby gas pipe line 
marked with regard to WCS Policy 19, NPPF paragraphs 108,109,110.

12. No mud or debris from this development shall be deposited on the public highway.

Page 27



Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to help prevent mud and dust from 
being carried out onto the highway with regard to WCS Policy 19, NPPF 
paragraphs 108,109,110.

Environmental Protection and Pollution Prevention

13. Subject to the approval of the Waste Planning Authority, any facilities for the 
storage of oils, fuels or chemicals shall be sited on impervious bases and 
surrounded by impervious bund walls. The volume of the bunded compound shall 
be at least equivalent to the capacity of the relevant storage tank plus 10%. If there 
is multiple tankage, the compound shall be at least equivalent to the capacity of the 
largest tank, vessel or the combined capacity of interconnected tanks or vessels 
plus 10%. All filling points, associated pipework, vents, gauges and sight glasses 
must be located within the bund or have separate secondary containment. The 
drainage system of the bund shall be sealed with no discharge to any watercourse, 
land or underground strata. Associated pipework shall be located above ground 
and protected from accidental damage. All filling points and tank/vessels overflow 
pipe outlets shall be detailed to discharge downwards into the bund. 

Reason: To prevent pollution of the water environment with regard to WLP Policy 
33.

14. No external lighting shall be installed on this site without the prior approval, in 
writing, from the Waste Planning Authority. 

Reason: To protect local amenity and to ensure that bats are not discouraged at 
this location, in accordance with WCS Policy 15 and GCTJCS Policy SD9.

15. No materials shall be burned on site. 

Reason: To prevent environmental pollution and in the interests of the visual 
amenity of the area with regard to Policy 37 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local 
Plan.

16. Prior to the commencement of development a scheme to minimise noise emissions 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Waste Planning Authority. The 
scheme shall include details of all noise sensitive properties (residential, 
commercial and recreational), noise suppression measures and the methods to 
monitor emissions of noise arising from the development. The scheme shall then 
be implemented as approved with the approved noise suppression measures being 
retained and for the duration of the development hereby permitted. 

Reason: To reduce the impacts of noise disturbance from the site on the local 
environment with regard to WLP Policy 37.

17. All plant and machinery shall operate only in the permitted hours specified in 
condition 9 of this permission and shall be maintained in accordance with the 
manufacturer’s recommendations to maintain optimum performance and reduce 
noise. 

Page 28



Reason: To control the impact of noise generated by the development in the 
interests of the amenity of the area with regard to WLP Policy 37.

18. All reversing warning systems used on plant and vehicles on the site shall either be 
non-audible, ambient related or low tone devices.

Reason: To control the impact of noise generated by the development in the 
interests of the amenity of the area with regard to WLP Policy 37. 

19. Prior to the commencement of development a scheme to minimise dust emissions 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Waste Planning Authority. The 
scheme shall include details of all dust suppression measures and the methods to 
monitor emissions of dust arising from the development. The scheme shall then be 
implemented as approved with the approved dust suppression measures being 
retained and for the duration of the development hereby permitted. 

Reason: To reduce the impacts of dust disturbance from the site on the local 
environment with regard to WLP Policy 37.

20. All laden vehicles entering or leaving the site shall be fully sheeted.

Reason: To reduce the impacts of dust disturbance from the site on the local 
environment with regard to WLP Policy 37.

21. Prior to the commencement of development a scheme to minimise odour 
emissions shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Waste Planning 
Authority. The scheme shall include details of all odour suppression measures and 
the methods to monitor emissions of odour arising from the development. The 
scheme shall then be implemented as approved with the approved odour 
suppression measures being retained and for the duration of the development 
hereby permitted. 

Reason: To reduce the impacts of odour disturbance from the site on the local 
environment with regard to WLP Policy 37.

Biodiversity

22. The development shall be implemented in accordance with the details and 
measures of the Newt Precautionary Method Statement as set out within section 
5.1 of the Ecological Assessment by Willder Ecology dated 13th February 2018 
which are hereby approved. This Method Statement is also to be used to protect 
any reptiles that might unexpectedly be present on site.

Reason: To ensure that biodiversity is conserved with regard to Policy WCS15 and 
WLP Policy 37.

Landscaping

Page 29



23. No development shall take place until a Landscape and Aftercare Management 
Scheme based on the Landscape Plan drawing 19159-1250-01 has been 
submitted and approved in writing by the Waste Planning Authority. The scheme 
shall use tree and shrub, species of native and local origin. The scheme shall 
include a planting timetable and details of a perimeter bund, up to 2.5m in height, 
along the western boundary of the site. The scheme shall additionally include new 
hedgerow planting next to the western boundary of the Site and the scheme shall 
be implemented in full and thereafter maintained as approved by the Waste 
Planning Authority.

Reason: To conserve and enhance landscape and biodiversity value with regard to 
Policy WCS 14,15, WLP Policy 37, GCTJCS Policies SD5, SD6 and NPPF 
paragraphs 133,143-146. 

Restoration and Aftercare Scheme

24. A restoration and aftercare scheme detailing the steps necessary to bring the site 
to a standard suitable for agriculture along with the time period for implementation 
of all necessary works to achieve the same shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Waste Planning Authority within four years from the date notified to 
the Waste Planning Authority in accordance with condition 1 of this permission. 
The scheme shall thereafter be implemented in accordance with the approved 
scheme.

Reason: To ensure the satisfactory restoration of the site to agriculture and to 
enhance Green Belt land with regard to with regard to Policy WCS 14,15, WLP 
Policy 37, GCTJCS Policies SD5, SD6 and NPPF paragraphs 133,143-146. 

25. The site shall be restored in accordance with the scheme approved under condition 
24 within 6 months of the cessation of use as required by condition 2 of this 
permission. 

Reason: To protect the amenities of the local environment and the openness of the 
Green Belt with regard to Policy WCS 14,15, WLP Policy 37, GCTJCS Policies 
SD5, SD6 and NPPF paragraphs 133,143-146.

Advice Notes

1. The applicant/developer shall take appropriate measures to ensure that any 
culverts/pipes and the gas pipeline (Wales and West Utilities) in the vicinity (and 
crossing underneath the access track) is not affected by the proposed development.

2. This informative is given as a reminder to help you comply with the Wildlife & 
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and avoid possible prosecution. The Act makes 
it an offence to kill, injure or take any wild bird, and to intentionally remove, damage 
or destroy the nest of any wild bird while that nest is in use or being built. It is also an 

Page 30



offence to take or destroy any wild bird eggs. If at any time nesting birds are 
observed on or close to the site in trees, shrubs or elsewhere then works which might 
affect them should cease and advice sought from a suitably qualified or experienced 
person. Works taking place between 1st March and 31st August require special care 
as trees, shrubs or certain parts of buildings could harbour nesting birds unless it is 
reasonably determined by observation or survey by an experienced person that 
nesting bird activity is absent. This informative should be passed on to any persons 
or contractors carrying out the development.

3. The Protection of Badgers Act 1992 protects badgers from deliberate harm or injury. 
If badgers or evidence of badgers using the site is discovered during operations all 
work should cease to avoid possible prosecution. A suitably qualified ecological 
consultant should be contacted and the situation assessed before work can proceed. 
This informative should be passed on to any persons or contractors carrying out the 
development.

4. In relation to the County Council's Service Level Agreement with the Local Biological 
Records Centre and to assist in the strategic conservation of countywide biodiversity, 
all species and habitat records from the ecological work commissioned by the 
applicant should be copied [if not already] to the Gloucestershire Centre for 
Environmental Records (GCER). The advice is in accordance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework, ODPM Circular 06/2005, Natural England's Standing 
Advice, and with Section 40 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 
2006 which confers a general biodiversity duty upon Local Authorities whilst 
exercising their functions.

Appendices

Appendix A Planning Committee report 18/0032/TWMAJW presented to Planning 
Committee March 21st 2019. This report can be viewed: 
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/g9064/Public%20reports%20pack
%20Thursday%2021-Mar-2019%2010.00%20Planning%20Committee.pdf?T=10

Appendix B Highway Authority Consultation response 16th October 2019.

Contact Officer: Denis Canney Senior Planning Officer (01452) 425611

Page 31

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/g9064/Public%20reports%20pack%20Thursday%2021-Mar-2019%2010.00%20Planning%20Committee.pdf?T=10
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/g9064/Public%20reports%20pack%20Thursday%2021-Mar-2019%2010.00%20Planning%20Committee.pdf?T=10


Page 32



Highways Development Management
Shire Hall 

Gloucester 
GL1 2TH

Denis Canney
Gloucestershire Environment Department 
Environment Department
Shire Hall 
Bearland 
Gloucester 
GL1 2TH

email: devcoord@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Our Ref X/2018/040496 Your Ref: 
18/0032/TWMAJW

Date: 16 October 2019

Proposal:

Land To West Of Wingmoor Farm Stoke 
Road Bishops Cleeve Cheltenham 
Gloucestershire GL52 7DG

Treatment of biosolids cake to create 
soil improver/fertiliser.

Received date: 19 April 2018

No objection No objection (Subject to 
conditions)

X
Recommendation:

Refusal Further information

Document(s), 
drawing(s) and 

reference(s):

Planning 
history 
ref(s):

None

Details of 
recommendation:

Recommendation to approve –Subject to conditions

Condition 1 – Highways works in the interest of highway safety 
Condition 2 – Highway maintenance in the interest of highway safety
ITU Highways Records
Rd Safety Fire Service
PROW Structures

Required 
consultation:

LHM Police

This is the third material response on this application

Response 1 issued 17 May 2018 – Recommended Refusal on highway safety grounds

Response 2 issued 14 December 2018 – Recommended approval subject to conditions on 
highway safety grounds relating to visibility and parking layout.

This response will address the material matter relating to the use of ‘Tip Road’ in the vicinity of 
two private accesses that are at 90 degrees to each other as well as any other highway safety 
related matters

Tip Road is a private road and is accessed from the Stoke Road. Stoke Road is subject a 40mph 
speed limit. Tip Road carries no signing to inform a motorist that the road is private or that the

Page 33

mailto:devcoord@gloucestershire.gov.uk


40mph speed limit no longer applies. As such a motorist may self inform that the set speed limit 
on this length is 40mph, even though there is no enforceable speed limit on this length.

It must be noted that the road is private and the road terminates at the access to Wingmoor 
Recycling and landfill site. No point beyond the gated elements travelling south can be construed 
as a road or highway. It is private land in operation as a waste recycling site.

The first access ‘Access A’ faces north and is the access to the extant waste recycling site. The 
access proposes an informal 10mph speed. The signage can be seen for the 10mph in the 
hyperlink below. This is neither a legal limit or a requirement but is a driver informatory sign.

The second access ‘Access B’ is the existing access serving both the shooting club, Severn Trent 
waste water plant as well as a farm. In conjunction with the  proposed development which based 
on the proposed application details will result in an intensification of use of the private track 
using Heavy Commercial Vehicles (HCV) (tanker and tractor and trailer) for associated 
movements other than staff.

At the point where the two accesses open out onto Tip Road, the road is bound on both sides by a 
narrow verge and chain fencing. When the gates are closed there is no requirement for visibility.

Within the recycling site on egress there is a rectangular warning sign that advises ‘concealed 
entrance; and this relates to access B.

A hyperlink to the presentation of Tip Road and the two access is provided below for electronic 
users - https://www.google.co.uk/maps/@51.9432851,-
2.1000255,3a,90y,222.95h,58.5t/data=!3m6!1e1!3m4!1sk2Ch-X-
TBGCmP9EvxX2TcA!2e0!7i13312!8i6656 

This concludes the assessment of Tip Road as a private highway

Highway safety has been raised as a concern and as such requires a suitable redress. Whilst both 
accesses currently operate safely the increase in use of 1 of these may affect highway safety in 
using either of the accesses.

This has been assessed by the Highway Authority and is satisfied that both accesses can 
continue to be safely used subject to conditions/advisory notes.

GCC as a Highway Authority for all types of highway, private or otherwise, has considered the 
following options to address highway safety at this location.

a) Do nothing – The existing accesses have operated safely and have done so for some time. 
It could be tested as it is to establish if there are any private issues that arise. However 
GCC in areas of poor junction / access alignment would not support a do nothing 
approach to safety based on intensified use.

b) Resolve visibility by use of a Grampian condition .– The matter of ‘what is appropriate 
highway visibility’ requires the establishment of some form of control of speed. The 
highway authority in accepting that the movement from the Wingmoor Recycling and 
Landfill site now is undertaken uninterrupted despite it being the transition from a 
private site to a private road would also need the landowner by proxy of the applicant to 
secure suitable speeds to ensure the integrity of any visibility requirements was 
maintained in perpetuity. To express this as clearly as possible, if it was known that 
vehicles may exit immediately in front of you would approach Tip Road as though  
moving from the Recycling and Landfill site to the road then one would proceed with 
caution. However as a consequence of time and the nature of the access it now occurs as 
an uninterrupted movement. If known, then no individual would look to exit the site and

Page 34

https://www.google.co.uk/maps/@51.9432851,-2.1000255,3a,90y,222.95h,58.5t/data=!3m6!1e1!3m4!1sk2Ch-X-TBGCmP9EvxX2TcA!2e0!7i13312!8i6656
https://www.google.co.uk/maps/@51.9432851,-2.1000255,3a,90y,222.95h,58.5t/data=!3m6!1e1!3m4!1sk2Ch-X-TBGCmP9EvxX2TcA!2e0!7i13312!8i6656
https://www.google.co.uk/maps/@51.9432851,-2.1000255,3a,90y,222.95h,58.5t/data=!3m6!1e1!3m4!1sk2Ch-X-TBGCmP9EvxX2TcA!2e0!7i13312!8i6656


be ignorant to the need to approach slowly due to the possibility of an exiting vehicle from 
Access B. Whilst there is an argument for recording the speed of vehicles exiting the site 
this should not be the desired form of egress and is simply a consequence of what has 
been established as the ability to wilfully egress the site without the need to consider the 
proximity of Access B. As such designing for this and the additional speed limiting
requirements begin to make this proposal less reasonable. A Grampian condition could be 
applied but the Highway Authority would have concern that unlike other Grampian 
visibility matters relating to private access on to public highway that the condition would 
not be addressing a matter that was not subject to change i.e. the internal arrangement of 
the southern Recycling and Landfill Site is held by lease and could change at any time 
based on how the site is required to be laid out. The consequence being that the acceptable 
level of visibility required on the applicant could change at any time making the 
proposition of a Grampian condition less reasonable in all other regards.. The
question would need to be if the expectation on the other landowner or the applicant is 
reasonable when the condition relates to a matter of visibility that could change at any 
time requiring a constant ‘back and forth’ with each material planning matter on either 
site.. The Highway Authority consider the requirement for an amount of visibility is not 
resolutely ‘fixed’ and could be subject to change regardless of any agreed position today. 
It also would establish the behaviour of how vehicles exit the Recycling and Landfill site 
as acceptable and appropriate where it has been identified as a poor behaviour to the 
surroundings, which to be clear is that they have a right of access onto their land not a 
right of continuation. They are required to act with due regard to their surroundings 
regardless of the alignment of their access to the private road..

c) Resolve visibility by directly addressing the lack thereof by Grampian condition for a 
STOP sign noting that on the public highway the use of STOP signs is considered to be 
exceptional. They are still a tool that highway authorities can make use of but in general 
new planning should not have sub-standard arrangements. However, these accesses are 
existing and in use,. The road is private and functionally safe and whilst the question of 
intensified use is important it should be noted that the proposed access will still result in 
significantly less movements than the access for the Waste Recycling Centre

d) Resolve highway safety from intensification of use of the private track serving the 
development site by use of a dilapidation type planning condition to establish baseline 
conditions and any maintenance necessary caused or contributed to by intensification of 
use of parts of the private track between access B and the site of the proposed 
development.

Furthermore GCC has considered its position as a highway authority and notes that Tip Road 
along with access track from Tip Road to the application site is private. GCC also considers that at 
any time a private road could be put forward for adoption and if adopted becomes the 
responsibility of the highway authority.

If this was to occur then the Grampian condition for visibility would then result in a highway 
safety matter directly resolved by legal agreement by other parties and meaning that the 
highway authority could not adopt the required visibility.

The Grampian condition for a STOP sign would require the highway authority to adopt a safe and 
legible highway arrangement that was safe by virtue of the legal requirement to Stop due to a lack 
of visibility at a given location.

There is currently no intention to adopt Tip Road and it may never occur, but the theoretical 
discussion one step forward in considering adoption establishes the most reasonable position for

Page 35



the highway authority in the interest of protecting public safety whether by a Grampian 
condition that addresses visibility or via a Grampian condition to install a STOP sign.

This also addresses the maintenance of the private length of road from Tip Road / Access B for 
the vehicle route to the proposed facility. The applicant will need to ensure that highway safety is 
maintained by addressing any damage to the lane and any sub surface structures that may arise 
through intensification of use, any increased weight and frequency of vehicles in much the same 
way a highway authority would need to at public expense. As such this responsibility shall be 
borne by the applicant by Grampian condition until such time their permission expires.

The highways recommendation is for approval subject to planning conditions being substantially 
in accordance with the following:

Conditions

Note
WPA refers to Waste Planning Authority, Access A refers to the Wingmoor recycling and landfill site 
and Access B refers to the gated entrance off Tip Road serving the Shooting Club and the Severn 
Trent facility.

No development shall commence until a highways safety scheme relating to a Stop Line and Stop 
Sign has been agreed in writing with the WPA and fully implemented. The stop line and stop sign 
shall be maintained and presented as highway signing for the purposes of egress throughout the 
lifetime of the permission or as otherwise agreed by the WPA

Reason: To provide a safe and suitable access and egress in the interests of highway safety for all 
users of both the adjacent Wingmoor waste site and the users of Access B

The access route from Access B to the site as identified on plan ref( to be inserted……)shall not 
come into beneficial use until a scheme comprising a monitoring, maintenance and reparation 
strategy is agreed in writing with the WPA. Such a scheme shall be fully implemented and 
include maintenance and repair of the route throughout the lifetime of the permission.

Reason: To ensure safe and suitable access in the interests of highway safety for all users of both 
the adjacent Wingmoor waste site and the users of Access B as well as protecting the presence of 
culverts and nearby gas pipe line marked.

No development shall commence until the Access B entrance as identified on plan ref(to be 
inserted)shall be constructed in accordance with a scheme to be submitted and approved in 
writing by the WPA to include an appropriate highway design solution so as to minimise any 
deleterious material being dragged onto the highway.

Reason: To provide a safe and suitable access/egress in the interests of highway safety for all 
users of both the adjacent Wingmoor waste site and the users of Access B

Page 36



1

PLANNING ENFORCEMENT PROGRESS REPORT – NOVEMBER 2019 
COMMITTEE

1.0 PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1 To identify the level and nature of enforcement activity undertaken by the 
Planning Enforcement team in 2019, up to and including 21st October.

1.2 To provide details and an update on formal action being taken against more 
serious planning breaches, including the results of legal actions undertaken.

1.3 To identify progress on planning enforcement matters raised as ‘Regulation 3 
Development’, i.e. where the County Council is either landowner, in control of the 
land, or the activity relates to the Council’s functions.

2.0 BACKGROUND

2.1 Gloucestershire County Council employs one-full time Planning Enforcement 
Officer, based in the Planning and Development Management Team. The role 
exists to investigate alleged breaches of planning regulations, work with those 
responsible to resolve any issues identified, and consider appropriate action 
where identified breaches cannot be remedied. Some monitoring support is also 
provided by the Council’s Senior Planning (Monitoring and Compliance) Officer, 
as well as advice given from other planning officers in the team regarding the 
position on any unauthorised development.

2.2 The team operates according to the Planning Enforcement Plan brought before 
members in January 2019, supported by a set of Customer Service Standards, 
through implementing agreed officer procedures.

2.3 Enforcement Progress Reports have been produced for Planning Committee in 
its current format since November 2018. The aim has been to keep the 
information summarised, while highlighting the main issues that might of interest 
to members. Members are invited to advise the Planning Enforcement Officer 
should they require any additional information or alternative format to the report.

3.0 CURRENT WORKLOAD

3.1 The following is a summary of activity for 2019, to 21st October:

 55 new enquiries received leading to formal investigation; this compares against 
a total of 48 in the whole of 2018;

Page 37

Agenda Item 7



2

 48 investigations resolved or otherwise concluded; this compares against a total 
of 22 in the whole of 2018;

 36 investigations are ongoing, and a total of 67 different cases have been 
worked on in 2019;

 An additional 35 general enquiries, reports or complaints have been received 
and answered, which although requiring some assessment, did not require full 
investigation.

3.2 The above figures demonstrate not only a greater workload undertaken 
during 2019, but also reflects changes to the working practices of the team since 
January 2019, including a more systematic approach to record keeping.

3.3 The following identifies some of the areas of work undertaken to date in 2019, as 
part of the caseload identified in sections 3.1:

 The Planning Enforcement team continues to support the Environment Agency 
and Gloucester City Council in investigating and remediating waste breaches 
occurring at Severnside Farm, Gloucester. An injunction has been successfully 
applied for by Gloucester City Council which prohibits a number of activities from 
taking place on the land; compliance is being monitored by all agencies. 

 Complaints have been received concerning noise, dust and increased traffic 
movements coming from Allstones operations in Myers Road. The County are 
working closely with Gloucester City Council’s Environmental Health team and 
the Environment Agency to monitor and assess the nature and levels of the 
impacts alleged; discussions are taking place with Allstones to address any 
concerns identified.

 Traffic through Ford – the Planning Enforcement team continues to undertake 
periodic monitoring of site operations, particularly those relating to traffic issues 
affecting the Ford area.

 The Planning Enforcement Officer is working closely with the Environment 
Agency on 7 separate sites within the County, mostly relating to unauthorised 
waste deposits.   

3.4 The inaugural Gloucestershire Planning Enforcement Officer’s Group (made up 
of each of the six district councils and the County Council) has met to share 
issues of joint interest, including any impacting changes to legislation and 
guidance, and aimed at improving working relationships and practices between 
local authorities.              

4.0     FORMAL ACTION

4.1 When the Council’s requirements are not met, following a reasonable period 
given to comply, and where the identified breach is serious, then formal action 
will be considered to remedy the situation. This usually involves service of a 
Notice and/or Prosecution.

Page 38



3

4.2 5 Breach of Conditions Notices are currently in force relating to operational hours 
at Westington Quarry. Prosecution proceedings have been commenced against 
the operator in respect of the alleged breach of some of these notices. The 
prosecutions were due to come to Court in April 2019, but were adjourned at the 
Defendant’s request to 30th September 2019; this has further adjourned to 19th 
November. Members will be updated on the outcome at Committee.

4.3 A further Breach of Condition Notice is in force at Westington Quarry, relating to 
approved noise levels being exceeded, and in addition a Noise Abatement Order 
has been served by Cotswold District Council’s Environmental Health team, who 
are monitoring noise levels.

4.4 A Planning Contravention Notice has been served at a site in the County, where 
it appears waste is being imported and deposited. The purpose of the Notice is 
find out more information about the importation, as well as land ownership, and 
will enable the Planning Enforcement team to assess what further (formal) 
actions might be appropriate. More details can be shared at a later date, when 
appropriate.

5.0     ‘REGULATION 3’ MATTERS

5.1 The County Council are rightly expected to investigate complaints relating to its 
own land or services, and approach their resolution in the same way as it would 
for any other breach of planning control reported. In order to demonstrate this 
transparency, reports to committee will identify such investigations, setting out 
the latest position.  

5.2 One such case remains as an open investigation, following complaints received 
by the Planning Enforcement team.

 Willows Caravan Site, Sandhurst – The Environment Agency have reported 
waste tipping on this site, owned by the County Council, and is being dealt with 
by the Principal Lead Officer for Gypsy and Travellers Services (under whose 
remit the management of the land falls). She has approached a number of 
occupiers to remove waste off the land and to reinstate fences which should 
prevent access to the areas where waste has been deposited.

5.3 Two ‘Regulation 3’ investigations have been concluded, both relating to Cleeve 
School:

 Lighting hours – Some external lights were remaining on beyond the 9pm 
deadline for switching off (as required by planning condition).  The County 
Council’s Asset Management and Property team have arranged for them to be 
switched off, and this has been confirmed through monitoring visits and by 
neighbours. We have received no complaints since January, and spot checks in 
April and September confirmed that all the lights switched off at exactly 9pm. 

Page 39



4

Application 18/0040/TWREG3 has now approved later hours for the lighting (on 
a conditioned and temporary basis), so this matter can be considered concluded, 
unless any further complaints are received concerning alleged breaches of the 
amended lighting hours. 

 Drainage – concerns have been raised regarding drainage installed as part of 
the Cleeve School 6th form development, following flooding earlier this year. This 
matter has now been concluded as the Council’s Asset Management and 
Property Services team were able to provide certification showing that the works 
had been undertaken in accordance with approved plans. Consequently the 
matter is being dealt with as a maintenance issue and not a breach of planning 
permission.

6.0 CONCLUSION

6.1 The performance of the Planning Enforcement team is set out in sections 3.0 to 
5.0 and demonstrates Gloucestershire County Council’s commitment to 
investigating and responding to breaches of planning control, and where 
necessary taking formal action. 

6.2 A total of 36 cases are currently under investigation, including ongoing 
monitoring. In addition to any further enquiries received, the team will continue to 
work to try and resolve or meet a satisfactory outcome on as many of these 
cases as possible. 

CONTACT OFFICER:

Andy Birchley - Senior Planning Officer (Enforcement)
andy.birchley@gloucestershire.gov.uk
01452 425664

Page 40



Delegated Decisions made between 12th September and 7th November 2019

Application Ref Proposal Site Location Decision Issue Date Decision
19/0033/GLMAJW Change of Use from National Grid 

operational site to vehicle breaking and 
storage place (Sui Generis use).  
Construction of building for vehicle 
breaking and storage.  Proposed 
concrete hardstanding to yard with 
proprietary steel car rackings.

Old Gas Works
Bristol Road
Gloucester
Gloucestershire

26/09/2019 Consent

19/0059/CWMAJM Variation of condition 21 to replace straw 
bales with a soil bund prior to the 
extraction of Phase 2B of planning 
permission 13/0097/CWMAJM [Extension 
of sand and gravel extraction operations 
including the retention of all existing site 
administration, processing and access 
facilities, with restoration of the 
extension and existing site to agriculture 
and species rich grassland using imported 
inert materials to recreate the original 
land form], dated 15/05/2017

Manor Farm Pit
Washpool Lane
Kempsford
Gloucestershire
GL7 4NJ

27/09/2019 Consent

18/0040/TWREG3 Variation of condition 4 (Lighting hours) 
relating to planning consent 
16/0120/TWR3MJ dated 02/08/2017.

Cleeve School
Two Hedges Road
Bishops Cleeve
Cheltenham
Gloucestershire GL52 8AE

09/10/2019 Consent

19/0056/STREG3 Change of use of Stonehouse Town Hall 
office and former Post Office to provide 
separate accommodation for Stonehouse 
Town Council offices and Gloucestershire 
County Council Library service.

Stonehouse Town Council
High Street
Stonehouse
Gloucestershire
GL10 2NG

16/09/2019 Consent

P
age 41

A
genda Item

 8



Delegated Decisions made between 12th September and 7th November 2019

19/0057/CWREG3 Extension to the Early Years' Building with 
associated external works

Bourton On The Water 
Primary Academy
School Hill
Lansdowne
Bourton-On-The-Water
Gloucestershire
GL54 2AW

02/10/2019 Consent

P
age 42


	Agenda
	5 Minutes of previous meeting
	6 Application No: 18/0032/TWMAJW Land to the West of Wingmoor Farm, Stoke Road, Bishops Cleeve.
	18-0032-TWMAJW  Highway consultation response Oct 2019

	7 Enforcement Report
	8 Delegated Decisions taken between 12th September - 7th November 2019.

